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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
Appellant, 

vs. 
JOHN THOMAS KEPHART, 

Respondent. 

No. 72481 

FILED 
JUN 0 6 2017 

ORDER DISMISSING APPEAL 

This is an appeal from a district court order purporting to 

grant a motion to suppress. Second Judicial District Court, Washoe 

County; William A. Maddox, Senior Judge. 

On March 24, 2017, this court entered an order directing 

appellant to show cause why this appeal should not be dismissed for lack 

of jurisdiction. Specifically, it appeared that the notice of appeal was 

untimely filed. See NRS 177.015(2); State v. Braidy, 104 Nev. 669, 765 

P.2d 187 (1988). Appellant has filed a response to the order and 

respondent has filed a reply. 

Respondent was charged by way of information superseding 

indictment with one felony count of domestic battery. This charge was 

prosecuted as a felony based on respondent's two prior convictions for 

domestic battery. 

In its response, appellant argues that the order appealed from 

did not grant a motion to suppress but, rather, was "more akin to an order 

granting a motion to dismiss." Specifically, appellant states that the order 

appealed from was not an order granting a motion to suppress because it 
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did not exclude evidence on the grounds that the evidence was unlawfully 

obtained. Appellant argues that the order appealed from ruled that the 

prior convictions could not be used to enhance the domestic battery charge 

to a felony. Therefore, the order operates as an order granting a motion to 

dismiss because the charge in the information will not be considered by 

the court or a jury and, thus, the order is appealable pursuant to NRS 

177.015(1)(b). 

Although counsel for appellant stated• that he was filing a 

notice of appeal from an "order granting motionS to suppress," and he 

attempted to comply with the filing deadlines related to such an appeal, 

see NRS 177.015(2), we agree with appellant that this is not an appeal 

from an order granting a motion to suppress, and the timelines related to 

the filing of notices of appeal in this regard do not apply. See State v. 

Shade, 110 Nev. 57, 867 P.2d 393 (1994) (defining "motion to suppress"). 

However, neither is this an appeal from an order granting a motion to 

dismiss. The order appealed from does not dismiss any charges against 

respondent. See State v. Koseck, 112 Nev. 244, 911 P.2d 1196 (1996). The 

order appealed from grants respondent's motion to exclude two prior 

convictions for felony enhancement purposes, but does not dismiss the 

charge pending against respondent. 

The right to appeal is statutory; where no statute or court rule 

provides for an appeal, no right to appeal exists. Castillo v. State, 106 

Nev. 349, 352, 729 P.2d 1133, 1135 (1990). No statute or court rule 

provides for an appeal from a district court order excluding the use of prior 

convictions for felony enhancement purposes. Such an order is an 

intermediate order that can and should be reviewed on appeal from a final 
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, J. 

judgment. See NRS 177.045. We lack jurisdiction to consider this appeal, 

and we 

ORDER this appeal DISMISSED.' 

cc: Chief Judge, The Second Judicial District Court 
Hon. William A Maddox, Senior Judge 
Attorney General/Carson City 
Washoe County District Attorney 
Washoe County Public Defender 
Washoe District Court Clerk 

'We decline appellant's invitation to revisit our ruling in State v. 

Braidy, 104 Nev. 669, 765 P.2d 187 (1988). 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

 Pursuant to NRAP Rule 25, I hereby certify that I am an employee of 

the Washoe County District Attorney’s Office and that, on July 3, 2017, I 

deposited for mailing through the U.S. Mail Service at Reno, Washoe 

County, Nevada, postage prepaid, a true copy of the foregoing document, 

addressed to: 

 John Reese Petty 
 Chief Deputy Public Defender 
 Washoe County Public Defender’s Office 
 350 S. Center St., #6 
 Reno, NV  89501 
 
 
 
 I further certify that on this date, a copy of this document was hand-

delivered to the Chambers of Chief Judge Patrick Flanagan, for the 

Respondent, the Honorable William A. Maddox and the Second Judicial 

District Court.  

 
 
     Destinee Allen   
     Washoe County District Attorney's Office 
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Honor? The D.A. didn't -- may I approach?

MR. B0LENBAKER: It's from the waiver.

M5. BRADY: Hay I approach?

THE CoURT: It's the first line.

BY HR. BOLENBAKER:

a If you could read Number L.

A It says: "I understand the State will use this

conviction as any other prior conviction f rom thi s or any

othe r state whi ch prohi bi ts the s ame or similar conduc t to

enh anc e the penal ty for any s ubsequen t offense. "

Q Do you understand that?

A No. I mean, kind of .

e Do you understand that you had anothe r domestic

battery conviction at the time, f rom 2010?

A YeS.

e And this actual paragraph here is actually

boldedi right? 2,3 and 4 are not bolded, but the L is

botded . WouId you agree with me on that?

MS. BRADY: objection. Let me see. I don't see

anythi ng bolded here. What's bolded? Are you talki ng

about -- that's not bolded. What are you talki ng about?

MR. B0LENBAKER: The waiver; it's bolded.

M5. BRADY: It's not bolded. 0bjection.

MR. BOLENBAKER: TaKe a looK.

2)
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M5. BRADY: I don't see where that's bolded.

THE C0URT: What number?

MR. B0LENBAKER: Number L, where it specifically

says that this conviction or any othe r conviction could be

u sed for enh a nc emen t purposes.

THE C0URT: I can't te11 from that one whether

it's botded or not.

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

Q But you see it, you read it, and these are your

initials on the bottom: correct?

A Those are my initials.

O Alt ri ght. You'd also agree with me -- did you

have a c h ance to look at the Court m inutes f rom 201.0?

A NO.

Q You did not review them?

A No.

MS. BRADY: I did not give him the Court minutes,

Your Hono r . The re would be no rea son why a defendant

wou 1d h ave copi es of the Court minutes.

THE CoURT: WeI l , show them to hi m now.

MR. B0LENBAKER: I h ave t hem somewhe re.

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

O I'd like to show you the Court minutes.

).1 M5. BRADY: And I would obj ect to tryi ng to
26
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i mpeach him accordi ng to the Court mi nutes. Aga i n,

because they are not off icial transcripts, and t hey do not

'i ndi cate what people's statements and conversati ons were.

They are summari es.

I"lR. B0LENBAKER: I think the Clerk of the Court

might take offense to that, but --

THE C0URT: I understand that, but you can ask

him quest ions, and you can obj ect to some of the

questions, but he can answer.

H5. BRADY: I thi nk the Clerk of the Court would

know exactly what I'm talking about.

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

Q 0n the bottom of that page, te11 me where it says

that this conviction speci fi cally f imits the State's

abi 1i ty to use that convi ct ion as an enhancement.

MS. BRADY: 0bj ecti on. These aren't transcri pts.

THE CoURT: Let him read it. He's asking him if

there's anythi ng in the m inutes that say that; that's al1

he's aski ng.

H5. BRADY: What i s the relevance of aski ng the

cl ient what's in the m inutes, when he's not responsible

for the mi nutes, neve r saw the mi nutes ? What does Mr.

Kephart h ave to do wi th the minutes?

|\,1R. B0LENBAKER: Your Honor, I bel ieve he's
27
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perjuri ng himsetf by mak ing up a conversat ion that

happened, and I'm just simp1y --

l'l S. BRADY: 0bjection.

THE CoURT: Let's move forward. I can sort this

out. We don't have a jury he re. I'm pretty sure the

Cou rt Reporter doesn't care what you guy s are saying,

unless you say it fast. So 1et's move forward. Answer

the question. Do you see anythi ng in there?

THE WITNESS: I rea11y don't understand thi s

doc umen t at alI.

MR. B0LENBAKER: 0kay. No further questions.

THE C0URT: 14r. Kephart, were you arrested on

thi s charge?

THE WITNESS: Yeah.

THE C0URT: So you were arrested, you're in jai1,

and you get bai Ied out, I assume?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE C0URT: And then what happened after that?

What happened after you we re a r rested and bai 1ed out? You

wen t bac k to Court?

THE WITNESS: Yeah, we each went back to Court,

THE C0URT: Did you have an attorney?

THE WITNESS: No.)1

and - -

28
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THE COURT: Now, you had one the fi rst time. Why

didn't you get one the second time?

THE WITNESS: i di dn't have enough funds.

THE C0URT: Did anybody advise you you had a

right to an appoi nted counsel?

THE WITNES5: No. I mean, Iike they advised me

that I had counsel; but, at the same time, they ' re 1ike,

"Welt, we just want to give you a f irst on this." So I

was like, "0kay. " You know what I mean? Me and my

gi rlfri end just got in a rgumen t for me goi ng fi shi ng, and

that was it, you know.

THE C0URT: The same gi rlfriend we had here?

THE WITNESS: Yes - - no, no, a di fferent
gi rlfri end. It was my daughter's mother.

THE C0URT: So you only appea red in Court twice?

We11, how ma ny times did you appea r in Court?

THE WiTNESS: 0nce.

THE C0URT: And you had discussions with the

Deputy DA in this case prior to enteri ng a plea?

THE WITNESS: YeS.

THE C0URT: What di d he say?

THE WITNESS: He just told me that they wanted to

d rop it down to a f irst, because they didn't wan t to take

'i t to tli a-[, because they fel t the re wasn't enough

)9

 082



2

3

u

t2

t0

13

I

6

9

t4

l5

I6

t7

I8

I9

20

2t

2)

23

24

evidence to convi ct me in a trial. So they ' re like,
"We11, we'11 gi ve you a f irst on this." And I'm like,
"A11 ri ght. 1 '11 wi11 take a f irst. " You know?

THE C0URT: And where did this discussion take

place?

THE l^,ITNESS: It was in a room just right down

the hallway f rom the courtroom.

THE COURT: And then you sai d, "0kay. " What

h appened after that? I want step-by-step.

THE WITNESS: We just went i nto the cou r t room and

the D.A. told the Judge that they wanted to give me a

first, because of the lack of evi dence of anythi ng going

on.

So I was 1ike -- they told the Judge, and the

.Judge usually agrees wi th the D.A. you know? 5o it's 1ike

whatever sentenci ng the D.A. suggests, usually the Judge

agrees with. So they're 1ike, "We11 gi ve you a first."
So it was pretty much a fine, and I signed a bunch of

paperv.rork.

THE C0URT: Di d you have to get counsel i ng7

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE C0URT: So you have done it once before?

THE WITNES5: I have only done counsel i ng once

f or th is.
l0
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THE C0URT: Well, you had one pri or to this,

though.

THE WITNESS: Yeah. That's the only thing I did

counsel i ng for. I didn't h ave ex tended counsel i ng because

of thi s.

THE C0URT: Does anybody have any more questions?

MS. BRADY: I do.

REDIRECT EXAHINATION

BY MS. BRADY:

Q So the two happened within a similar period of

time; correct --

A YeS.

a -- with the same person?

A YeS.

I And almost an ongo ing si tuat i on wi th you and her

havi ng arguments?

A Yeah, for sure.

O Is it fair to say that because they happened so

closeIy, they just combi ned the counsel i ng and alt of that
'i nto one?

a I mean, I don't think so, because like in the

second one , nobody cou 1d f ind me doi ng anythi ng wrong.

But, I mean, I was arrested anyway on it, you know what I
ll
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mean? So I don't feel that they combined anything on it,

you know? They just gave me a plea bargain i nstead of

go ing to triaI oveLi t for a first.

l''1 S. BRADY: No further questions.

THE C0URT: Anything more, Mr. Bolenbaker?

MR. B0LENBAKER: Briefly.

RE-CRO5S EXAMINATION

BY 11 R. BOLENBAKER:

Q When were you arrested on this case?

A 0ver a year-and-a-half ago, probably. It seems

like a year-and-a-half ago.

Q And you would agree with me that at no point

betf,,een you bei ng arrested, unti I approximately a week

before this trial, did any issue ever come up about you

bei ng c ha rged wi th domesti c batte ry, thi rd offense?

A When I was first arrested, that's what they told

me: That I was charged wi th a third.

Q And it's not unti1 a week before tri aI. 5o you

had been cha rged with domesti c battery, th ird offense, for

a year-and-a-ha1f ; correct?

A Yeah.

MR. B0LENBAKER: No further questions.

M5. BRADY: Just to respond.

3)
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FURTHER REDIRECT

BY 145. BRADY:

Q Your Count 1 was domestic battery by

strangulation ; correct?

A YCS.

Q Most of the conversati ons, and the defense, was

gea red a round the domest ic battery by strangulation:

correct?

A YeS.

Q And it wasn't unti1 the week before trial that

you were arraigned on the Information Superseding

I nd ic tmen t chargi ng only the thi rd domesti c battery;

correct?

A YeS.

THE C0LJRT: You can step down.

(Th e wi tness was excused. )

THE C0URT: Mr. Bolenbaker, did you have anything

else?

MR. BOLENBAKER: No, Your Honor.

THE C0URT: Anythi ng more?

MR. B0LENBAKER: Just to clari fy, he was charged

with domesti c battery, third offense, the ent ire time, as

weII, and strangulation. We just made a strategic
decision to just go wi th domest i c battery, third.

ll
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THE COURT:

more?

I've read the plea in this case

l'1 S. BRADY: No. Your Honor I'd submit the

matter to you.

THE COURT: You know, this is real1y difficult

I came he re today wi th the i ntent of suppressi ng. When I

say "suppressi ng, " that's why I a sked that question,

because I think there's di fferent rules in te rms of the

State's right to appeal, depending llhether it's an

exclusion or suppression.

I wiII treat it as a suppress ion hearing The

reason I'm doi ng that .i s because I'm goi ng to grant the

suppressron

cases.

And I'11 tell you why have read these

think you're right, Hr. Bolenbaker, that once

you present evi dence rebutti ng the initia1 Mot i on to

Suppress, the bu rden shifts bac k to the defend an t to prove

that it was some kind of ag r eemen t that it would on 1y be

t reated as a f irst, and so then the State is goi ng to have

to comply wi i ts agreement

But

tried to get a

i gnore my own

th

in thi s case, sit here if eve rybody has

copy of the actual record -- and I can't

experi ence, both as a prosecutor and as a

which is primarily)1 defense attorney in sma11 counties,
)4
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v{here I h ave pract iced most of my career.

Keep in mi nd that I was a prosecutor for

16 years, and I su ppose half my time was spen t defending

cr.i mi nal defendants for L0 yea r s. I have bee n a .Judge for

about 11 now. But I know how these go.

And I can te11 you how they went in Virginia

City, when I was Distri ct At to r ney up there, just not too

l ong ago.

You get in there, you're not su re -- and I'm

talking f rom the state of mind of the prosecutor -- if you

have that much, or enough ev idence to go fo rwa rd on the

domesti c battery, and you've got it charged as a second;

and so you th reaten to p roc eed on the second, in hope s of

getting a plea to the first.

And no one rea1ly thinks abou t whether or not the

first can be enhanced, or not enhanced, or anyth i ng else.

But you're basically saying, " Look, we'11 gi ve you a

second f irst. "

And once there's an agreement, then the Court

slaps down a bunch of forms that it has, to be signed, and

the defendant signs them. And you have a non-lawyer judge

te1l i ng a non-lawyer, who's not represented by counsel,

what rights he's gi vi ng up.

First of atl, the fact that we don't have a

))
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record of th is is not the defendant's fau1t, it's the

State's fault. 1f they didn't preserve one , then if what

he's sayi ng is true and the re is some ev i dence of that

somewhere in the record, it's not his fault that he can't

get it. It's the 5tate's fault that he can't get it. And

whethe r you yrant to or not , you represent the 5tate, Mr.

Bolenbaker.

The second problem I h ave wi th this, and the

deci sions I'm readi ng by the Nev ada 5u p reme Court, is, I

have always understood and was ve ry comfortable wi th it

whi 1e I was a prosecutor, and avai Ied myself of it a

number of times when I was a de fen se attorney, wi th the

i dea that the 5tate bears the bu rden, and that seldom, if

ever, should it be sh ifted. And in this case, I don't

know what the i ntent of the parties were.

In s ituati ons Iike th is, a wri tten plea agreement

is not going to be p repa red . And, as a matter of fact, up

unti1 not too ma ny years ago, most j uri sdi cti ons didn't do

plea agreements, and I think there's still some that don't

do t hem in J ust ice Court and Mun ici pal Court.

So I just can't agree with the idea that when

there's a lack of evi dence, that that somehow or another

'i nures agai nst the defendant.

And so I'm going to exclude -- or suppress the

36
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prior conv ict ions, treat this as a mi sdemeano r.

You have, I bel ieve, Hr. Bolenbaker, two days,

when I suppress something, to file a not ice of i ntent to
appeal.

Thi s would be, in my opinion, an excel l en t case

f or the State to appeal. And I don't knov,r i f they make

you wri te you r own opi n ions or not.

HR. BOLENBAKER: We.11 see.

THE C0URT: But it would be an excellent case to

appeal. And may be we'11 get a publ i shed opi ni on where the

Sup reme Court gi ves us some gu idance on this issue,

because I don't feel guided, and I'm applying the

principle that the State bears the bu rden. And in this

case, in more than one i nstance, it hasn't met that

bu rden. 0ne, there's no record in this case.

And had he been represented by an attorney, and

the attorney had failed to p repa re a pl ea agreement, I

wou 1d be more comfortabte in deal i ng wi th you r arguments,

Mr. Bolenbaker.

Would you 1et me know if you don't argue an

appeal, and we need to set the sentenci ng on this?

MS. BRADY: Your Honor, I bel i eve we have a

sentenci ng date set already.

THE COURT: Do we? We11, it wiII be vacated if
37
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he appeals

out i s:

Anothe r thi ng I would like the

I'm sure down in Justice Court

parti es to find

they put them on

, but he's also -- I'm goi ng to

I need to know who

probati on, wh ich if sentence him to a m isdemeanor, he's

goi ng to get some jai1 time

have a probation tai1. And

'i t is a mi

rema nd it

sdemeanor, the

bac k to Justice

appropri ate thi ng would be to

Court for sentencing.

gi ven that,

him. Do youI would order to supervise

department here in Reno?

h ave a probation

HR. B0LENBAKER: Well, a few things. I'm not a

hund red percent sure I'm goi ng to appeal I'11 probably

go to

the f i

my superiors and see what they want to do. That's

rst thing I've got to figure out.

thi nk, as it stands right now, thatSecondIy, I

But

jurisdiction
if you can do it

They do have a

here, you obviously have

Depa r tmen t of Alternative

Sentenci ng down in Justice Court, and that would be the

one that would supervi se him.

THE C0URT: Are they the ones that supervise a

Justice Court sentenc ing?

NR. B0LENBAKER: Correct 5o that's who you

would gi ve that power to, to supervise hi m, not the

Di v is ion of Pa role and P roba t ion, but the Depa rtmen t of
l8

8
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Al te rnat i ve Sentenc i ng.

What I want to make clear, though, it is your

rul i ng that the prior convi ct ion specifically Iimited the

State's ability for enhancement purposes. I thi nk that's

the language they're looking for.

THE COURT: Yes.

11 R. B0LENBAKER: So that's what I th ink that we

would need.

And then I don't remember what day we had for

sentencing.

THE COURT: I think you have to -- if I'm

treati ng this as a suppression, that mi ght not be a bad

'i ssue for the Supreme Court, if this is an exclusi on or

suppress ion. Because I think if I'm excluding it, you

would not be able to appeal unti 1 I sentence. If I

suppress it, I think you have two days to fi 1e a noti ce of

appea 1 and --

t'l 5. BRADY: 0r a juri sdi ct ional i ssue, even.

THE C0URT: Could be, yes.

MS. BRADY: Can I ctari fy? I i nterpreted your

ruting a 1ittle bit differently than what Mr. Bolenbaker

just characteri zed: As you not maki ng a finding in terms

of spec if i c l anguage, but in te rms of the l anguage --

rea11y, the specif ic language bei ng absent, and there
)9
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bei ng e nough ev idence to support that there is a

negotiation.

THE C0URT: The parties treated the July 29th,

2 010 conviction as a first. And if I unde rstand what the

Supreme Court is starting to say now is that unless

there's some evi dence that specifically shows that they

'i ntended for that not to be used for the purposes of

enhancement, then it can be enhanced.

However, in this case, we have a lack of evidence

as to anythi ng, because we don't h ave a transcri pt, which

'i s not the defendant's fault.

Because of the c ircumstances, and the way this

plea was entered, he wasn't represented by counsel, and so

the re was no wr i tten plea ag reemen t p repa red. Had there

been, it would have been an easy call. But in this case,

the re wasn't.

And it looks 1ike, f rom read ing thes e two cases,

the Supreme Court is sayi ng: WeIl, once you show -- at

some point the bu rden shifts to the defend an t to show that
'i t wasn't goi ng to be used for the pu rposes of

enhancement.

It looks like the two cases that were cited, that

are reported, in one .i nstance t hey say, "We're goi ng to

make the State comply wi th an ag reemen t that it's made,

40
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not to use it for enhancement."

But then the next case says that we wan t specific

proof , wh ich the defendant has to bri ng fo rwa rd, if you

don't h ave a plea agreement, that that was the case.

We don't have that here, but I'm f i ndi ng that
'i t's not the defendant's fault that we don't h ave a better

reco rd than what we do, because we can't get a transcr.i pt

of the ent ry of plea in this case.

PIus, he wasn't represented by counsel. So I

don't knov'r ve ry ma ny defendants that prepa re plea

agreements.

And I know exactly how this happened. He shows

up, the State goes to him and says, " Look, we'11 let you

plead to a first. You ' 11 get the first puni shment, not

the second puni shment. And in return, if you do that --"

that's the qui d pro quo.

I don't know v.rhether there was any di scussion of

'i t bei ng used to enhance. The forms that we have -- I

know how those fo rms get -- the C1e rk puts somethi ng in

f ron t of the defendant it wants signed, and the defendant

s igns it, and it advises him of it. But he's not

represented by counsel, so nobody ' s real ly tel1i ng him

what any of it means. So that's where I have a hard time

wi th thi s.

11.
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But what I'm f .i nding is that the re wasn't a

record to i nd i cate one way or the other. And it's not the

defendant's faul t that record doesn't exist.

You prepa re an o rde r. You p repa re a wri tten

order --

11 S. BRADY: 0kay.

THE COURT: - - and gi ve i t to Mr. Bolenbaker.

And I s uppos e that will gi ve you more time to decide

whethe r you pl an on appeati ng this or not.

MR. B0LENBAKER: 0kay. 0nce the order comes in,

I h ave two d ays f rom then?

THE COURT: Yes . I 'm pretty su re , i f you look at

that, I think there's a secti on -- you know, there used to

be a sectj on. WelI, probabty three or fou r years ago

the re was a sec t ion there that al lows the State to appeal

f rom a suppress ion to the Supreme Court.

I'm not sure what the consequences are if I go

ahead and sentence him and then you appeal from that. I

don't know if that fixes the amount of puni shment he'd get

or not.

MR. B0L EN BAKE R: It seems cleaner and ma kes mo re

sense to do it befo re he gets sentenced, because that's
really what the i ssue is, is a sentencing i ssue. So to

me, it makes sense to do it beforehand. And he's out of
17
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custody, so it's not like he's really bei ng prej udi ced or

anythi ng in any way.

THE C0URT: No. 5o prepare an order, todge i t

r.l i th the Court, and e-mai 1 me a copy and e-mai I Mr.

Bolenbaker.

If i don't get any objections f rom you within

f ive days of that time -- so basi ca11y, once you've gotten

it, you ' ve got five d ays to ma ke any objections you have

to what she's sayi ng the order shoul d be.

MR. B0LENBAKER: 0kay.

THE C0URT: Anythi ng more?

MR. B0LENBAKER: No. Thank you, Your Honor.

H5. BRADY: No. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE C0URT: That wiI1 be the order of the Court.

The two cases that you lodged wi th the Court,

t hose witl be ma rked as an exhibit.
(The proceedi ngs were concluded. )
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STATE OF NEVADA )

) ss.

COUNTY OF WASHOE )

I, RANDI LEE WALKER, 0fficial Reporter of the

Second Judicia1 District Court of the State of Nevada, in

and for the Coun ty of Washoe, do he reby certify:

That as such Reporter, I was present in

Department No. L5 of the above court on said date, time

and hou r, and I t hen and the re took verbat im stenotype

notes of the proceed ings had and tes t i mony gi ven therein;

Tha t the forego ing transcri pt is a true and

correct transcription of my s tenotype notes of said

heari ng to the best of my abi 1i ty.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, thi s 24th day of March,

2017.

/s/ Randi Lee WaLker

21

RANDI LEE WALKER, CSR #137
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CODE 1800 

Christopher J. Hicks 

#7747 

P.O. Box 11130 

Reno, NV 89520 

(775) 328-3200  

 

 

 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

* * * 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff, 

Case No.: CR16-0298  

 v.   

Dept. No.: D07 

JOHN THOMAS KEPHART,  

 

Defendant. 

____________________________________/ 

 

INFORMATION SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

  CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS, District Attorney within and for the 

County of Washoe, State of Nevada, in the name and by the authority 

of the State of Nevada, informs the above entitled Court that JOHN 

THOMAS KEPHART, the defendant above named, has committed the crime 

of:  

COUNT I.  DOMESTIC BATTERY, a violation of NRS 33.018, NRS 

200.485, and NRS 200.481, a category C felony, (50239) committed as 

follows: 

That the said defendant on the 25
th
 day of September 2015, 

or thereabout, did willfully and unlawfully use force or violence 

upon the person of Nevada Sidener, a person with whom he is or was 

F I L E D
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CR16-0298

2017-01-11 03:27:12 PM
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Clerk of the Court
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actually residing with and/or a person with whom he has had or was 

having a dating relationship, said force or violence occurring at or 

near the location of a1850 Merchant Street, Washoe County, Nevada, by 

punching and/or grabbing and/or choking the said victim, after having 

been previously convicted of an offense constituting domestic battery 

on May 19, 2010 in Humboldt County, Nevada and after having been 

previously convicted of an offense constituting domestic battery on 

July 29, 2010 in Humboldt County, Nevada. 

 

 

 

  All of which is contrary to the form of the Statute in such 

case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the 

State of Nevada. 

 

  CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS  

  District Attorney 

  Washoe County, Nevada 

 

 

 

  By: /s/ Michael Bolenbaker 

     MICHAEL R BOLENBAKER 

 10520 

          DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
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  The following are the names and addresses of such witnesses 

as are known to me at the time of the filing of the within 

Information: 

 

 

JOHN "JJ" STALLINGS, WASHOE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

RYAN PATTERSON, SPARKS POLICE DEPARTMENT 

ANDREW LINDSEY, SPARKS POLICE DEPARTMENT 

NEVADA LYNN SIDENER, 1850 MERCHANT ST #104 Sparks, NV  89431 

 

The party executing this document hereby affirms that this 

document submitted for recording does not contain the social security 

number of any person or persons pursuant to NRS 239B.230.   

 

  CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS  

  District Attorney 

  Washoe County, Nevada 

 

 

  By /s/ Michael Bolenbaker 

    MICHAEL R BOLENBAKER 

  10520 

    DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
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CODE NO. 2630 

WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

CHRISTINE BRADY, BAR #11065 

P. O. BOX 11130 

RENO, NV  89520-0027 

(775) 337-4800 

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  

 

 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

 

 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  

 

 Plaintiff, 

     v.   Case No.  CR16-0298 

       

JOHN THOMAS KEPHART,          Dept. No.  7     

 

  Defendant.   

     / 

OBJECTION TO ADMISSION OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS AS A FELONY 

ENHANCEMENT AND MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

COMES NOW JOHN THOMAS KEPHART, by and through counsel, Washoe County 

Public Defender, JEREMY T. BOSLER, and Deputy Public Defender CHRISTINE BRADY, 

and hereby submits its OBJECTION TO ADMISSION OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS AS A 

FELONY ENHANCEMENT and hereby requests that the Court deny the admission of the 

prior domestic battery convictions from Union Justice Court, Humboldt, Nevada, dated July 29, 

2010 and May 19, 2010, as a felony enhancement.   

 This Objection is made and based upon the Constitutional rights to Due Process, the 

record of the proceedings to date, the following points and authorities, and any oral arguments  

and/or documentary evidence as may be presented at a hearing on this matter. 

/// 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

JOHN THOMAS KEPHART (hereinafter “Mr. Kephart”) has been charged via 

Indictment with the offense of domestic battery.  The case is charged as a felony, based upon 

alleged prior convictions within the seven-year period preceding the Defendant’s current case 

II.  STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Mr. Kephart was convicted of a first offense misdemeanor domestic battery on May 19, 

2010.  The Judgment of Conviction and Order of the Court, entered on May 19, 2010, indicates 

the May 19, 2010 conviction  was Mr. Kephart’s First Domestic Battery Offense for an incident 

occurring on or about November 28, 2009. Exhibit 1, p. 3, l. 28. Five months prior to entering 

his plea in May 2010, Mr. Kephart signed an Admonishment of Rights wherein he appears to 

have been represented by Jack Bullock, II.  Exhibit 1, p 16. 

Mr. Kephart was convicted of another domestic battery on July 29, 2010.  The 

Judgment of Conviction and Order of the Court, which was signed by Mr. Kephart, indicates 

Mr. Kephart represented himself as a proper person.  Exhibit 2, p.1.  both the Judgment of 

Conviction and Criminal Complaint indicate Mr. Kephart was pleading to a Fist Domestic 

Battery. Exhibit 2.  Nowhere in the second conviction is it clear that Mr. Kephart is knowingly 

pleading to a Second Domestic Battery for enhancement purposes.    

Mr. Kephart was convicted of two first offense domestic battery offenses.  In fact, it 

appears that Mr. Kephart was specifically told the second conviction would count as a first 

conviction.   Additionally, there is no indication in the written record that the City Attorney 

objected to the conviction as a first offense domestic battery, or retaining the right to use the 

conviction as a second offense enhancement.   

/// 

/// 

///   
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III.  ARGUMENT  

A. The prior Domestic Battery convictions should not be admissible as an 

enhancement to increase the severity of the current charge to a felony. 

 

The felony allegation in this case relies upon the prior “convictions.”  However, the 

Court paperwork discloses deficiencies that disqualify them from consideration in this case.   

In Smith v. State, 105 Nev. 293 (1989), the defendant’s prior DUI conviction could not 

be used to enhance her current DUI to a felony because she had pled to a first offense DUI 

pursuant to negotiations.  The Smith court’s rationale for this decision was that the spirit of 

constitutional principles do not support the subsequent use of the conviction. Id. at 298.  Speer 

v. State, 116 Nev. 677, 680 (2000), clarifies this reasoning by stating that Smith and other like 

cases were based “solely on the necessity of upholding the integrity of plea bargains and the 

reasonable expectations of the parties relating thereto.”  In the current case, it is unknown 

whether Mr. Kephart’s plea was a result of negotiations or whether the Court took it upon itself 

to convict him of a first offense domestic battery.  However, the record shows evidence that the 

prosecutor in both cases intended the convictions to be first offenses for enhancement purposes, 

even though they had knowledge of the prior conviction.  This is tantamount to a negotiation 

because the prosecutor was made aware of the prior conviction, and allowed the plea to go 

forward as a first offense, thus waiving the State’s ability to use these convictions as felony 

enhancements in the continuing seven years.   

Additionally, the Speer case clearly states that one of the reasons a prior conviction 

should not be used as an enhancement is because of the “reasonable expectations of the parties 

relating thereto.”  Id. at 680.  Mr. Kephart pled to a first offense and was sentenced for a first 

offense domestic battery.  Mr. Kephart had also been informed that he was being convicted of a 

first offense domestic battery.  Mr. Kephart has a reasonable belief that the prior convictions 

would not be used for felony enhancement purposes, in light of the Court’s knowledge of his  

/// 
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prior domestic battery.  Furthermore, there is nothing in the written record to suggest that the 

prosecutor preserved the right to use the conviction as an enhancement.   

B. Lack of Notice and Lack of Due Process 

 

At the time Mr. Kephart entered his respective pleas in Humboldt County, he was not 

on notice that together the two convictions could be used to enhance the next domestic battery 

to a felony.  In the second proceeding he was not represented by counsel.  The vagueness and 

confusion surrounding the prior convictions make the instant felony prosecution 

unconstitutional according to both the United States and Nevada Constitutions.   

CONCLUSION 

 All evidence suggests that the prior convictions resulted from plea negotiations.  Mr. 

Kephart should not be charged with a felony domestic battery when both convictions were 

specifically treated as, and pled to as a first offense domestic battery. 

 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not contain the 

social security number of any person. 

DATED this 12th day of January, 2017. 

      JEREMY T. BOSLER 

      Washoe County Public Defender 

 

 

      By /s/CHRISTINE BRADY 

       CHRISTINE BRADY 

       Deputy Public Defender 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I, LINDA GRAY, hereby certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County Public 

Defender’s Office, Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, and that on this date I served a true copy of 

the foregoing document through electronic filing: 

    Michael Bolenbaker, Deputy District Attorney 

    District Attorney’s Office 

   

 

 DATED this 12th day of January, 2017 

     

      /s/ LINDA GRAY  

                 LINDA GRAY 
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CODE  

Christopher J. Hicks 

#7747 

P.O. Box 11130 

Reno, NV  89520-3083 

(775) 328-3200 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE. 

* * * 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

   Plaintiff, 

       Case No.  CR16-0298 

 v.  

       Dept. No.  7 

JOHN THOMAS KEPHART, 

 

   Defendant. 

____________________________________/ 

 

 

RESPONSE TO OBJECTION TO ADMISSION OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS AS A FELONY 

ENHANCEMENT AND MOTION TO DISMISS 

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through CHRISTOPHER J. 

HICKS, District Attorney of Washoe County, and MICHAEL BOLENBAKER, 

Deputy District Attorney, and hereby files its Response to Objection to 

Admission of Prior Convictions as a Felony Enhancement and Motion to 

Dismiss, which is made and based upon the attached Points and 

Authorities  

CASE PROCEDURE 

 On February 24, 2016, an Indictment was filed charging John 

Kephart (hereinafter “Defendant”) with one count of Battery Domestic 
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Violence by Strangulation and one count of felony Battery 

Constituting Domestic Violence.  On January 11, 2017, the State filed 

an Information Superseding Indictment removing the Battery Domestic 

Violence by Strangulation count with the felony Battery Domestic 

Violence charge remaining.  

 The State alleged two prior offenses in the Information 

Superseding Indictment; one from May 19, 2010 and one from July 29, 

2010, both in Humboldt County, Nevada.  On January 12, 2017, 

Defendant filed the instant objection.  The State would note this 

filing is almost 11 months after the filing of the original 

indictment.  Defendant does not contest the May 19, 2010 prior.   

FACTS 

 On June 4, 2010, Defendant was charged by way of Criminal 

Complaint with one count of Domestic Battery with One Prior 

Conviction within the last Seven Years in Humboldt County Nevada.  

The complaint alleged a prior conviction from May 19, 2010, which is 

the same prior offense the State has alleged in the instant case.   

 On July 29, 2010, Defendant entered a plea of guilty to Domestic 

Battery, 1
st
 Offense.  Defendant signed and initialed a 

Battery/Domestic Violence: Admonishment of Rights and was sentenced 

to 2 days in jail, 48 hours community service, a total of $322 in 

fines and administrative assessment fees and a 26 session Anger 

Management course. 

 On January 18, 2017, Defendant was convicted of Domestic Battery 

after a two day jury trial.  
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ARGUMENT  

 In State v. Smith, Smith was charged with a DUI third offense 

felony. Smith challenged one of the prior convictions that had been 

reduced from a second offense to a first offense. 105 Nev. 293 

(1989).  The Court noted that nothing in the record from the previous 

conviction indicated that the State advised Smith that the reduced 

conviction would revert to a second offense in the event of further 

drunk-driving convictions.  Id.  The Court held that because it was 

reasonable for the parties to expect that Smith’s reduced second 

conviction would be treated as a first offense for all respects, 

including penalty enhancements for future drunk-driving convictions, 

enforcement of the plea agreement was appropriate.  Id. 

 In Speer v. State, Speer pled guilty to a DUI third offense with 

the State using a prior felony DUI conviction as a prior.  116 Nev. 

677 (2000).  Speer argued that because the prior used was not a 

“first” or “second” offense that it could not be used as an 

enhancement.  Id.  The Court disagreed with Speer holding that any 

two prior offenses may be used to enhance a subsequent DUI so long as 

they occurred with seven years of the principal offense.  Id. at 679-

680.  The Court noted that in previous cases including Smith, it has 

held that a second DUI conviction may not be used to enhance a 

conviction for a third DUI arrest where the second conviction was 

obtained pursuant to a guilty plea agreement specifically permitting 

the defendant to enter a plea of guilty to a first offense DUI and 

limiting the use of the conviction for enhancement purposes.  Id. at 

680.  That rule is not applicable when there is no plea agreement 
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limiting the use of the prior conviction for enhancement purposes.  

Id.  

 Here, we have two considerations clearly showing that Defendant 

falls under the Speer analysis and not the Smith analysis.  First, 

Defendant signed an Admonishment of Rights form that in bold language 

states “I understand the State will use this conviction, and any 

other prior conviction from this or any other state which prohibits 

the same or similar conduct, to enhance the penalty for any 

subsequent offense.”  Therefore, Defendant was put on notice that his 

July 29, 2010 conviction would be used for enhancement purposes.  

 Additionally, nowhere in the court minutes does it state that 

the plea agreement limited the use of the conviction for enhancement 

purposes. The court minutes state that the assigned prosecutor simply 

did not have the certified copy of the first offense from May 19, 

2010 despite the court minutes reflecting that the court had given 

the prosecutor a copy of it. Therefore, it is clear from the minutes 

that the charge was reduced simply because at the time of the 

sentencing, the State could not prove the May 19, 2010 prior offense 

to enhance it to a second offense resulting in the reduction to a 

first offense. Nothing suggests that this was done with the specific 

idea of limiting the use of the conviction for future allegations of 

domestic violence. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the State asks the Court admit both 

prior convictions and sentence Defendant on a felony charge. 
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AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

  The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any person. 

  Dated this 25th___ day of _January, 2017. 

  CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS 

  District Attorney 

       Washoe County, Nevada 

 

 

  By /s/ Michael Bolenbaker 

    MICHAEL BOLENBAKER 

            10520 

         Deputy District Attorney 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING 

  I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County 

District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically 

filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF 

system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 

following: 

CHRISTINE BRADY, WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

 

 

DATED this 25th day of January, 2017. 

 

       /s/_Kim Pace__________ 

       KIM PACE 
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CODE #3795 

WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 

CHRISTINE BRADY, BAR #11065 

P. O. BOX 11130 

RENO, NV  89520-0027 

(775) 337-4800 

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT  

 

 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

 

 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  

 

 Plaintiff, 

      v.   Case No.  CR16-0298 

       

JOHN THOMAS KEPHART,          Dept. No.  7     

 

  Defendant.   

     / 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF OBJECTION TO ADMISSION OF PRIOR CONVICTION 

AS A FELONY ENHANCEMENT 

 

COMES NOW JOHN THOMAS KEPHART, by and through counsel, Washoe County 

Public Defender, JEREMY T. BOSLER, and Deputy Public Defender CHRISTINE BRADY, 

and hereby serves this Reply in Support of his earlier-filed OBJECTION TO ADMISSION OF 

PRIOR CONVICTION AS A FELONY ENHANCEMENT.  This Reply is made and based 

upon the Constitutional rights to Due Process, Fair Trial and Effective Assistance of Counsel, 

the record of proceedings to date, the Objection on file herein and the following.  U.S. Const. 

Fifth and Sixth Amendments, Nev. Const. Art. 1, Section 8. 

ARGUMENT 

     The United States Supreme Court has made clear every element of a charged offense must 

be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.  In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25L.Ed.2d 

F I L E D
Electronically
CR16-0298

2017-02-08 08:56:42 AM
Jacqueline Bryant
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 5940050 : yviloria
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368 (1970).  Therefore, the State has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all of the 

elements of the alleged offense, including the validity of any prior offenses being used for 

enhancement purposes.  To allow less would permit the State to avoid its constitutionally 

imposed burden of proof to convict Mr. Kephart of a felony offense.  This would clearly 

contravene Mr. Kephart’s rights under the Nevada and United States Constitutions to due 

process of law and proper notice.  U.S. Const. Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments; 

Nevada Const., Art 1, Sec 8.   

Once the State has provided proof of two prior domestic battery convictions, the burden 

then is on the defendant to rebut the validity of a prior conviction.  Dressler v. State, 107 Nev. 

686, 693, 819 P.2d 1288 (1991).  Mr. Kephart has demonstrated that there is sufficient evidence 

to rebut the validity of the prior conviction as an enhancement simply by reviewing the written 

court record.   

A prior conviction is admissible as long as the court records reflect that the spirit of 

constitutional principals were respected.   Davenport v. State, 112 Nev. 475, 477, 915 P.2d 878 

(1996).  However, the conviction is not admissible as an enhancement under certain 

circumstances, such as if the conviction was the result of negotiations or if it would offend the 

spirit of constitutional principals.  Smith v. State, 105 Nev. 293, 774 P.2d 1037 (1989).  The 

court record sufficiently provides enough evidence to suggest that the nolo contendre plea and 

conviction were a result of negotiations or that the parties were fully aware of the prior 

conviction and allowed Mr. Kephart to plead to a first offense anyway.   In light of all of the 

facts in this matter, allowing the State to use the previous conviction to enhance the current 

offense would offend the spirit of Constitutional principals and judicial integrity. 

In State v. Grover, 109 Nev. 1019, 862 P.2d 421 (1993), the State was allowed to use 

the second “first offense” conviction as an enhancement because the record failed to show that 

the prosecuting authority had any knowledge of the prior conviction.  The case at bar is 

distinguished from Grover because the prosecuting attorney had knowledge of the prior 
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conviction, as evidenced by the court record.  However, the Grover analysis can be applied to 

the case at bar to support a finding opposite that of Grover using the distinguishing fact of 

requisite prior knowledge. 

CONCLUSION 

Mr. Kephart has constitutional rights to due process and fair trial.  The record clearly 

supports Mr. Kephart’s contention that he was convicted of a first offense with the parties’ full 

knowledge of the prior conviction.  Since the oral record has not been preserved by the courts, 

Mr. Kephart is now subject to a felony prosecution.   The State should not be allowed to benefit 

from the lack of an oral record.   

Based upon the foregoing, it is respectfully requested that the Court deny the admission 

of the prior domestic battery convictions as a felony enhancement. 

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030 

 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding document does not contain the 

social security number of any person. 

DATED this 8th day of February, 2017. 

      JEREMY T. BOSLER 

      Washoe County Public Defender 

 

 

      By /s/CHRISTINE BRADY 

       CHRISTINE BRADY 

       Deputy Public Defender 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Office of the Washoe County Public 

Defender and that on this date I served via electronic service, a copy of the foregoing 

document, to:  

MICHAEL BOLENBAKER 

Deputy District Attorney 

  

DATED this 8th day of February, 2017. 

 

 

      ____/s/ LINDA GRAY______ 

       LINDA GRAY 
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE
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)
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)
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REN0, NEVADA, M0NDAY, FEBRUARY L3,2017,8:25 A.t'l .

-o0o-

THE C0URT: This is Case Number CRL6-0298, State

of Nevad a versus John Thoma s Kephart.

Thi s is time and place set for a hearing in

regards to p i or convi cti ons. I s uppose it cou Id make a

d i ffe rence how it's characterized: as a rul ing on

ev idence, or as a suppression motion. I say that,

because I think the State has a right to appeal f rom a

suppress ion motion i mmed iately. I don't know that you

have a ri ght to appeat f rom a rul i ng on evi dence untiI

after sentenci ng. 5o maybe you need to add ress that when

you get up.

It's your motion. Why don't the parties identify

themselves.

MS. BRADY: Chri sti ne Brady, on behalf of Hr.

J ohn Kephart, Lrho is present and out of custody.

HR. B0LENBAKER: Mike Bolenbaker, for the 5tate.

MS. BRADY: Thank you, Your Honor. Ini ti a1ly

when I filed it, I'm thi nki ng of this as a jurisdictional

i ssue.

Just to gi ve you some procedures, a litt1e bit of

bac kg rou nd abou t how this case sort of made its way to
I
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trial. I was not initiatly on this case. It was maybe

back in 2015, initialty, in Justice Court. It was

initialty in Justice Court, tate-2015. Mr. Kephart had a

pri v ate attorney. I don't h ave the detai 1s of what

happened in that case, so l''l r. Bolenbaker can illuminate

the Court on that. But that case -- I believe it was set

for a pref imi na ry hearing and was ultimately di sm i ssed in

.Justice Court. And then an Indi ctment was f i1ed, I

bel ieve, in J anuary of 2016.

THE C0URT: February 24th, 2016.

MS. BRADY: January 24th,2016.

THE C0URT: Februa ry .

H5. BRADY: February, 201.6. And the Indictment

that was issued was Coun t I, domest ic battery by

strangulation; and Coun t II, domest i c battery, third.

Mr. Kephart, I don't know if he had private

counsel or -- there was some confusi on about whether his

private counsel was still goi ng to represent him.

But on .J une 5th, 2017, J udge Flanagan o rde red for

the Pubt i c Defende r ' s 0ffice to represent Mr. Kephart.

Mr. Kephart appeared wi thout counsel, it l ooks 1ike, on a

hearing on May 1l-th, 2016.

And then I made my first appea r ance in the case

on June 22nd, 2076, at which time I was rea11y working
j
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wi th Mr. Kephart to defend agai nst the domestic battery by

strangulation. That was one of the main charges we

were -- that was Count I -- Iitigating.

0n J anua ry 11th, a week or so before trial, the

State fi 1ed an Informati on Supersedi ng Indi ctment alleging
just the thi rd domestic battery.

So the issue, f rom my analysi s, is whether or

not, real ly, there's even -- A, whe the r there's
jurisdiction. And I thi nk you add res sed the

jurisdictional i ssue right befo re trial, but that's why I

was -- one of the reasons why I wanted to add res s this
before t i al is, that I don't know what l,,ras p resen ted to
the Grand Jury in terms of the pri ors. I don't know --

you know, the bu rden of proof is lower there. But there's

a j uri sdi cti onal .issue as to whet he r or not this is really
a third domestic battery.

I'm look ing at when I recei ved the Information

Supersedi ng Indictment. 0f cou r se now that I'm not faced

wi th a domes t i c battery by strangulation, I'm looki ng

through the priors and speaki ng wi th my client, I did

not i ce that in the prior he was represented by counsel in
his first -- now I'm going to tatk a litt1e bit about sort
of the procedure of him enteri ng his pIea.

His first plea that he entered, he had counsel,

6
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he was represented by counsel, and revi ewed everything

together. Then another complai nt was filed agai nst him in

un ion, and it was for an inc i den t that actually preceded

the one he had just pted to. And he did not have an

attorney for the second one.

And in speak i ng wi th Mr. Kephart, he i nd i cated to

me that he was pretty muc h negotiating d irectly wi th the

D.A., and the D.A. was allowing him, in their
negotiations, for him to enter: A, a no-contest pl ea and;

B, that this would count as anothe r first.
And in support of that, it does show on the

j udgment of convi cti on for both of them, and for the

subsequent one whe re he negoti ated a fi rst, it shows

domestic battery, fi rst offense.

And in his mi nd, he be 1i eved that the next one

would be a second. And so on that basis, Your Honor, I,m

aski ng for -- it is my a r gumen t that the second domestic

battery to which he pled, that actualty occurred pr.i or to

the first one to which he pted, does not consti tute a

val id s econd domestic battery for enh ancement purposes,

pursuant to the negot iat i ons, and my client's
understandi ng at the time.

And I wi l1 reserve any rebuttal, You r Honor.

THE C0URT: l.,l r. Bolenbaker.

7
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B0LENBAKER: Thank you, Your Honor I 'm not

approach the evi denti a r y - v e r s u s - s u p p r e s s ion

MR

sure how to

convi cti on and any other conviction

you to enhance. And it gi ves him a

second, is the max i mum penal

second carries, obvi ously, a

'issue, so I guess I'll leave that to You r Honor.

is that I don'tWhat I wi 11 say, though,

understand how the defendant could not be on noti ce,

that thi s

when

he s igned a waiver that speci fi catly says

wha t would happen

domesti c battery.

'i f he was to get

can be u sed against

clear descri pti on of

another convi cti on for

In the mi sdemeanor

between a domestic battery

1evel, the on 1y difference

first, and domestic battery

ti es The domesti c battery

ng, hi gher

jail time, higher fi nes, thi

And I thi nk what's

one - yea r counsel i

ngs of that nature

ve ry clear f rom the minutes

f rom the second offense back, think, in 2010 i s that,

for wh a teve r reason, the State at that time di d not have

the prior offense It's clear f rom the Court mi nutes, it
says he amend s the charge to domes t i c battery first, as he

couldn't p rove the prjor domestic.

The Court, in its wi sdom, wanted to make sure

that eve ry body knew that they had g iven a copy to the

8
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District Attorney's 0ffi ce. It says the re right in the

mi nutes. That clearly s hows that the re was no p roof

i ssue, necessari 1y, on the charge; it was s i mply a matter

of an i nabi 1i ty to actually prove up the pri or offense, to

make it a second. 5o that's why it's reduced down to a

first. Not for enhancement purposes, but merely for

penalty pu rposes.

And I can telI you, I have a good feeling on

where the Nevad a 5 up reme Court lies on this, because

there's two unpubl i shed decisions, that I didn't put in my

mot i on, or response, because I don't think it's

appropri ate to put unpubl ished opinions. But if you look

at these two decisions, t hey clearly make a distinction

be tween those that are specifically reduced for not only

penalty, but enhancement. And that's the Smith line of

cases, versus those that are s imply red uced and are not

specificalty reduced for penalty and enhancement.

I have copi es up he re. It's Kapetan versus

State, 1.26 Nev. 729, f rom 201,0; and Tosh versus State, 385

P.3d 607, from 2016. I have copies, if you would like to

rev iew them. And I h ave highlighted the relevant

portions. If I can approach.

l'1 S . BRADY: I would 1i ke to see them. Can we get

another copy?

9
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THE C0URT: We wilI mark them as exhibits. If

you could ma ke three copies.

I'lR. B0LENBAKER: I think the way the Nevada

Supreme Court is handl i ng these is changi ng. I think at

first t hey we re not s upposed to be used as precedent.

I believe that the Sup reme Court rules have

c hanged now, and the decisions that are comi ng out now,

that are unpubl i shed, are actually al lowed to be cited.

But I thi nk it's a good di rection on where they

bel i eve -- the Nev ad a Supreme Court bef i eves the

di stinction Iies, and that is that for a reduced charge

from a second to a f irst to be considered for a f irst for

an enhancement, it has to be specifically ment ioned. And

that's clearly not in the minutes.

What is clear f rom the m inutes is that they

s i mply just could not p rove the prior, whi ch all that

rea11y doe s is just reduce the penalties.

That, combined wi th the i dea th at he s i gned a

wa iver -- the whole purpose of the waiver is to put him on

notice. That's the whole i dea of why we have in DUIs and

domesti cs: " Look at th is l/,, a iver that shows you your ri ghts

and what's goi ng to happen to you in the future." That's

the whole point of waivers.

71 We don't h ave waivers on othe r mi sdemeanors. The

10
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only reason we h ave the waiver is for this exact reason:

so that an i ndi vi dual can't come in now and say, "Wait a

mi nute. I wasn't su re. I didn't know." And we can come

back and say, "Wrong. You had a waiver. You had a waiver

that clearly expl a i ned to you wha t the ri ghts we re, and

what the f utu re was goi ng to hold for you. "

5o I wi sh that v,r e had the transcri pt. I tried,

and tried to get it. There was no transcri pt. I tri ed to

contact to f .i nd out who the D.A. was at the time. He's no

longer there. 5o, I mean, I did make efforts to try and

dig deeper i nto exactly what happened.

But I think it's clear from the mi nutes that this

was not expressly reduced for enh ancemen t purposes, which

is, I think, what is requi red under the Speer 1i ne of

cases, and what I h ave he re in the Tosh and the Kapetan

decisions.

THE C0URT: The problem I have on that argument

is that they consistentty go through, if you look at --

and I'm look ing at Exhibit 2. And at first, after I read

the cases that you cited, I thought: "V,Ie11." But if you

l ook at the cri minal complai nt, they speci fi calty go

t h rough and scratch out -- it was originally charged

domesti c battery, wi th one prior conviction within the

last seven years, and they sc ratch it out and put "f irst
1t
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offense. " And it's initialed by Smi th -- I think was his

name -- the Deputy DA. And that's on page L of the

compla i nt

And then if you Iook on the

he goes through and scratches out --

second page of that

I gues s the second

page -- scratches out the secti on that says, "Further, the

said defendant has commi t ted a like offense, " bl ah, blah,

bIah, blah. And

sc ratch that out

DA initials that

they put a square box around it and

, and then wri te out. And then the Deputy

. And they have got the prior conviction,

they set it forth there, but he sc ratches it out

And then you get down to the -- when he gets

sentenced -- no, the plea, and they sc ratch out "second"

and put "first" again, next to his i ni ti als

And then if you go back up to page -- if you look

at the j udgment of convi ct ion, the Judge

of the first offense. Domestic battery,

says he's guilty

the ve ry first page,

pun i shment.

fi rst offense, on

a f i rst-of f enseand sentences him to

5o it's pretty clear that eve rybody in that

cou r t room consi dered this to be a first offense, and --

MR. B0LENBAKER: The way I respond to that i s:

What else would they call it? If you don't have the prior

conviction. that's the normal nomenclature then f oLi t tot+

12

I

2
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be considered a first offense.

I think what somet imes h appen s is, is the State

has the burden in a 1ot of th i ngs in criminal law; r'i ght?

Bu rden of proof , to prove beyond a reasonable doubt.

THE C0URT: They did not have the burden.

HR. B0LENBAKER: But thi s i s actually one thi ng

whe re it says it has to specifically state that it was

limited for enhancement.

And , actually, I'11 change my opinion on this.

But this Tosh, this actually does refe r to it as a

suppress ion i ssue, if you read this.

But that's the one thing that it says, is that it

has to specifically say it's 1i mi ted, which is the

oppos i te of what we would no rma 11y think in these kind of

situations.

Normal ly we would thi nk: WeII, if there was

ambi gui ty, we side wi th the defendant. Which is actually

not what they say he re. They actual ly say it has to

specifically be 1imited for enhancement pu rposes.

And they actual ly make the di sti ncti on here:

"Enteri ng a plea in this Tosh case, specifically
permi tti ng the defend an t to ente r a ple a of gui lty --

however a plea agreement is reached, does not i nclude an

understandi ng the underlyi ng convi cti on c annot thereafter
ll
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be u sed for enhancement pu rposes , the convi cti on may be

u sed for such pu r pose wi thout violati ng the plea

agreement, regardless of the offi ci a1 designation of the

prior offense. "

And that's exactty what you're concerned about.

The exact thing that you're talki ng about is -- you're

conce r ned bec au se it says "fi rst offense. "

This case tells you what the Nevad a Supreme

Court -- the Appe 1l a te Court says that the actual

desi gnati on of "first of fen se " is not what they're looki ng

at.

What they're looki ng at is: Was that agreement

speci fi cally I imi t ing the State's ability to enh ance it?

And that's not in the record.

I think we can all agree that there's noth i ng in

there that s ays -- f rom the mi nutes -- that this

conviction is hereafter specifically 1i mi ti ng the State

f rom using another conviction for a thi rd offense. I

don't think anybody could a rgue that. That's not in the

mi nutes.

What this case s ays is that actual designation

and what you're conce r ned about is not what they are

tooking at.

l+ What they're looki ng at is: Is there any

t1
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the re. And that's what these 1i ne of cases say, because

it falls under that Speer line, not the Smith Iine.

So I think we can see where the higher courts are

v

language that s ays that the State was

1i mi ted, as part of the plea bargain,

and chargi ng the next one as a third?

specifically

from goi ng bac k in

And that's not in

'i t's the app rop ri a te way to

-- what we have to do is f ind

rea11y conce rned abou t is:

looki ng at i

Iook at it,

out: Was it
information

t. And I th.i nk

because th'i s is

spec r

here.

fically Iimited? And we don't have that

And , thereafter, that, combi ned with

the idea that he s i gned a waiver, that clearly puts him on

not ice.

Was he

offense

Honor

And that's

on notice?

THE COURT:

M5. BRADY:

THE COURT:

MS . BRADY:

THE COI]RT:

M5 . BRADY:

May I have

THE COURT:

what we're

and he was

a couple

Yes.

then this is a third

Let me read your cases here.

And may I respond?

Yes. Let me read these cases.

I will read them, too.

Have you read it?

I'm almost done. Thank you , Your

more mi nutes?

l+ M5. BRADY: Yes . have, You r Honor

15
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THE C0URT: Go ahead.

M5. BRADY: Thank you.

THE C0URT: They remanded this one case back, to

allow the defendant to c reate a record.

l'1 S. BRADY: Correct.

THE C0URT: I don't know if you planned on

calling the defendant as a witness this morning or not.

HS. BRADY: Yes, Your Honor. But i f I could

respond also to the State. 5o the 5tate, Hr. Bolenbaker,

says he personalty cou 1d not see how Mr. Kephart fai led to
be on notice, bec au se of the wri tten waiver that he

signed.

However, as you r^r'i 1l notice on the written

waiver, it i ndi cates the penalt ies al so for a second DUI.

It i ndi cates the penal t ies for a first DUI, a second DUI,

and a third DUI.

So the waiveLi tself does not put him on notice

specifically that this i nstance is that the nex t one will

be a th ird DUI. It does not put him on notice.

If it was a wa ive r only sayi ng that the next one

is a felony, then the State could say, "I see no way that

he's not on notice."

But in this case, he's on noti ce for first,

second, and th i rd. And it was his understandi ng that thel+
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nex t one would be second

Secondly, i n

Bolenbaker p rovi ded,

read ing on page 1

specific cite is

the way down , or

te rms of this case that Mr

the unpubli shed

Tosh ve rsus the State of Nevada,

decision, Sheldon

states that -- and I'Mit
to, and I'm trying I ook whe re the

'i n the second column, about a th ird of

f i rst

paragraph -- thi

conviction obtai

an eighth of the way

Court has concluded

ned pursuant to a gui

under an agreement speci f ically permi

to enter a plea of gu i 1ty to a f irst

section

lty plea entered

tting the defendant

DUI offense, cannot

down , on the

that a second DUI

be u sed to enhance third DUI offense to f elony,

because doi ng so wou 1d violate the ag reeme n t under which

the gu i 1ty plea was entered, and would f rustrate the

reasonable expectation of the parties.

And he re, Mr. Kephart's reason abl e expectation

and his negoti ation was that he was enteri ng anothe r to

f i rst, and that the

0n page 2

at Star 2,

next one would be a second

In Tosh, the re was

of this unpubl i shed opi n ion, at the

goi ng down again about two sentences:

no wr i tten plea ag reeme n t on the record

regardi ng Faulkner'

the amended complai

s conviction Howeve r , in thi s case,

nt, wi th crossi ng out the second and

putting "first" on the actual j udgment of conviction that
T7

 070



I

)

3

I

)

6

7

8

9

l0

11

I]

1)

14

I5

16

l7

t8

l9

20

22

_)

t1

l''lr. Kephart and the Judge signed, those two things

together, combi ned, consti tute wri tten p roof that this was

negoti ated to a f irst, and that the next one would be a

second.

The other statement is that Mr. Bolenbaker

i ndi cated that the minutes don't reflect that this was

speci fi ca11y negot iated to another fi rst for enhancement

pu rposes; howeve r , I wan t to note that I also mad e efforts

to try to get any transcri pts or any reco rd i ngs -- my

off ice aI so mad e those efforts -- and we had the same

experi ence that 14r. Bolenbaker c ame across.

I will note that the mi nutes are not transcri pts.

So to the extent that we cannot defi n iti vely say, without

actually heari ng the transcripts, what was said. The

mi nutes are a summa ry, and maybe they would incorporate

everything, but minutes don't a lway s incorporate every

detai 1 of conversati ons. Transcripts do that.

And we don't have access to the transcri pts, so

it's goi ng too far to say that, Your Honor. To rely on

the mi nutes alone is saying that this was not negoti ated

to a first for enhancement purposes is not

c o n s t i t u t i o n a l l y val id, because we don't have officiaI

transcripts that are in the Court record and that are

off icia1 and reliab1e, for enhancement purposes.)1

18
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And then again on page 2, it does say it was

remanded bac k for Tos h to h ave the ri ght to testify.

So I would Iike to call Mr. Kephart to the stand.

THE C0URT: If you could come up and be sworn.

JOHN KEPHART,

caIIed as a wi tness by the Defense,

who, havi ng been f irst duly sworn, was examined

and test.i fied as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY l',l5. BRADY:

e Could you please state your name and spel1 it for

the record.

A John Kephart: J-o-h-n K-e-p-h-a-r-t.

Q Who did you negot iate wi th for the domestic

battery from 2010?

A It was the D.A.

Q And what was your understand ing of the

negotiations?

A l'4 y understanding of the negotiations is they

djdn't want to take it to tr.i aI, so they offered me a

first domes t i c battery instead of taki ng it to trial.

21 So 1i ke I -- they just offered me a fine, and

19
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pretty much just a first domes t i c battery. That's it.

e And what was your understanding -- if you were to

get anothe r one, another domest i c battery, what was your

understandi ng as to what I evel domes t i c batte ry that would

be?

A I was under the understanding that it would be a

second.

l'l S. BRADY: No further questions.

THE C0URT: Mr. Bolenbaker.

MR. B0LENBAKER: If I may approach.

THE C0URT: Yes.

CROSS EXAHINATION

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

e Do you recogn i ze this document right here?

A I recognize my signature, my initials on the

document. I don't -- I mean, this has been almost

L0 years ago, so I don't recogn i ze this document.

Q So it's been a while, so your memory might be a

1i ttle hazy?

A WelI, I mean, do you remember 10 years ago like

eve ry sort of papers you signed?

Q WeIt --

THE C0URT: He gets to ask the questions, Hr.

20
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Kephart.

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

O First of all, it's not 10 years ago; right? It's

from 2010?

A Seven years ago.

Q But you just said yourself your memory is a

little abou t what happened --

14S. BRADY: 0bj ecti on. That's overstat i ng. He

did not say his memory was hazy about wh at happened; he

said he didn't recogni ze all the specifics of that

part icular document.

THE C0URT: The objection is overruled.

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

Q 5o you agree wi th me that your memory was a

little hazy?

MS . BRADY: 0bj ect i on . Agai n,

Hi scha racter i zati on.

THE CoURT: Ask h im what hi s memory i s, then.

"What is you r memo ry ? "

BY MR. BOLENBAKER:

Q What is your memorY?

A I remember goi ng to Court that day, and they

didn't want to take it to tli al because t ike me and my

gi rlfri end got in an argument that day, and f ike that wast+

2l
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it. 50 they're just 1ike if you just plea out to a first,

we'11 just let this go a fine. And I'm 1ike, "A11 right.

That's f ine. "

Q You wanted the lesser penalty; correct?

A For sure. I mean, 1ike, at the same time I

didn't want to go to trial over this, you know.

e Sure. So they offered you what would have been a

lesser penal ty; correct?

A We11, yeah, but --

Q The answer is yes or no.

A Somewhat, I guess. Like I would have went to

trial over it, but --

e Let me ask a question -- yes or no. You wanted a

lesser penal ty; correct? Yes or no?

A I don't feel like I can answer it with a

yes-or-no answer.

Q You have a hard time answeri ng the questions that

I ask; right?

A Somet imes.

O In fact, during the actual jury trial in this

case, you refused to answer some of my questi ons, didn't

you?

A Yes.

)1 e Now, let me show you this document agai n. Do you

22
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recogni ze this doc umen t ? Yes or no?

l''l 5. BRADY: 0bj ecti on, Your Honor. Asked and

answered. He's now harassing the witness.

THE C0URT: 0verruled. He's not even close to

harassing.

THE WITNESS: I don't remember that document.

BY I,IR. BOLENBAKER:

Q So you don't remember. But you do recognize your

initials on it; correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And you recogn i ze, then, that you would have read

the doc umen t if you put youLi ni ti als on it; correct?

A Maybe. I don't know.

Q You don't remember, either, do you?

A I mean, sometimes I sign stuff because -- oh,

just sign this, and I'11 sign it to get it out of the utay,

you know. It's like I pled to a f irst domestic, so I

j ust - -

Q Do you remember signing this document? Yes or

no, l''l r. Kephart?

A I don't remember signing the document, but --

a It's your testimony that the one thi ng you do

remembeli s, after all this has happened, that you were

specifically limited in the ability of the State to
23
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enhance the next conv icti on to a felony. That, you have a

great memo ry of ; is that correct?

A Yes. Yes, I represented myself on that case.

e But you r memory about everythi ng else regarding

the negoti at ions you don't h ave a memory of ; correct?

A WeI1, 1ike --

Q Yes or no?

M5. BRADY: 0bjection. Wait. 0bjection. What

was the question?

THE WITNESS: I don't understand that.

THE C0URT: Mr. Kephart, wait a second now.

MS. BRADY: What was the quest ion?

THE C0URT: When he asks you a questi on, if you

can, answer it yes or no. If you can't, then say you

can't answer it yes or no.

THE WITNES5: I can't answeLit yes or no.

t'lS. BRADY: objection. It's a confusing

questi on. I don't even unde rstand what the quest i on was.

BY I,IR. BOLENBAKER:

Q Let me show you this. Can you read this part out

here, ri ght here? Number l-, can you read that?

THE C0URT: 0ut loud, or to himself?

14R. B0LENBAKER: 0ut loud, please.

|\45. BRADY: May I see what he's readi ng, Your71
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